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DIRECTOR’S NOTE

The Metropolitan Museum has long pioneered schol-
arship on the decorative arts of late nineteenth-
century America, beginning with the landmark
exhibition and publication Nineteenth-Century
America (1970), held in celebration of the Museum’s
centennial. “Artistic Furniture of the Gilded Age”
continues that proud tradition, examining in depth
the Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room, one of the
crown jewels of America’s Gilded Age interiors. A tour
de force of carving and marquetry, the dressing room
was made for Arabella Worsham, wife of railroad
magnate Collis P. Huntington, and herself an extraor-
dinary, self-taught patron of the arts. Acquired in 2009
as a generous gift from the Museum of the City of
New York, it is now installed amid the other period
rooms of The American Wing, where it gracefully
complements the masterpieces of late nineteenth-
century American decorative arts on display in the
Deedee Wigmore Galleries.

Extensive research by the curators and staff of
The American Wing has uncovered much new infor-
mation about the dressing room and its cabinetmaker,
designer, and patron. Indeed, the recent attribution
of the room’s interior woodwork and furnishings to
the preeminent New York cabinetmaker George A.
Schastey was the primary motivation for the pres-
ent exhibition, which brings to light for the first time
Schastey’s work for the Worsham-Rockefeller house
and his other distinctive commissions. In this Bulletin,
the authors present new discoveries and historical doc-
umentation on Schastey, illuminating his life and his
underappreciated body of work. They also share their
insights into the Worsham-Rockefeller house and its

illustrious patron, placing the commission in histori-
cal context and providing the first in-depth analysis
of this significant building—all the more crucial
given that the house, originally at 4 West Fifty-Fourth
Street, no longer exists.

Morrison H. Heckscher, former Lawrence
Fleischman Chairman of The American Wing, and
Peter M. Kenny, former Ruth Bigelow Wriston Cura-
tor of American Decorative Arts, deserve credit for
shepherding the acquisition of the room and helping
to determine its ingenious site within The Ameri-
can Wing. The final installation and present exhibi-
tion were organized by Alice Cooney Frelinghuysen,
Anthony W. and Lulu C. Wang Curator of American
Decorative Arts. Nicholas C. Vincent, former research
associate in The American Wing and now manager of
collections planning in the Director’s Office, oversaw
the installation and research effort. Moira Gallagher,
research assistant and former Tiffany & Co. Founda-
tion Intern, provided invaluable assistance. The exten-
sive conservation of the dressing room was overseen
by Marijn Manuels, conservator in the Department of
Objects Conservation.

We extend our gratitude to the Enterprise Hold-
ings Endowment, The Peter Jay Sharp Foundation,
Karen H. Bechtel, and Pauline Metcalf for their
generous support of the exhibition “Artistic Fur-
niture of the Gilded Age: George A. Schastey.” The
publication is made possible by the William Cullen
Bryant Fellows.

THOMAS P. CAMPBELL
Diurector, The Metropolitan Museurn of Art






THE RECENT AcQuisiTioN of the Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing
Room by The Metropolitan Museum of Art offers a new perspective
on art, patronage, and decoration in Gilded Age New York. A unique
private chamber, the dressing room is one of three surviving interior
spaces from the luxurious New York City town house of Arabella
Worsham, the mistress, and later the wife, of railroad magnate Collis
P. Huntington. In 1881 Worsham commissioned one of New York’s
preeminent cabinetmaking and decorating firms, George A. Schastey
& Co.—little known today—to refurbish her house, at 4 West Fifty-
Fourth Street, in the most fashionable Aesthetic style (fig. 1). Just a
few years later, following her marriage to Huntington, Arabella sold
her residence to John D. Rockefeller, whose family made few changes
to the house and continued as its stewards until the 1930s. At the
time the property was demolished, in 1938, the Rockefeller family
sought to preserve the legacy of the Gilded Age by saving interior
elements from the town house and donating three intact rooms to
local museums.

After a long tenure at the Museum of the City of New York,
the dressing room has found new life at the Metropolitan. Newly in-
stalled amid the other period rooms of The American Wing, it high-
lights the remarkable story of Arabella Worsham, who became one
of the nation’s most important cultural patrons, perhaps best known
for founding the Huntington Library in San Marino, California, with
her second husband, Henry E. Huntington. The room also ignites
fresh scholarship on the extraordinary but underappreciated contri-

butions of George Schastey.

1. Detail of marquetry from the Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room (see fig. 4)



2. Photograph of 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street, looking south, ca. 1864.
Rockefeller Archive Center, Tarrytown, New York

ARABELLA WORSHAM
The years following the Civil War marked an enor-
mous transformation in New York City, as the
metropolis became the financial and cultural cen-
ter of the United States. Unprecedented sums of
money flowed into the city as a result of massive
industrialization throughout the country, made
possible by the emerging oil industry and the pro-
Liferation and success of the railroads. New York
became home to titans of finance, transportation, and
manufacturing, who in turn supported the cultural
and artistic development of America’s most densely
populated city.

The economic and social vitality of New York
was a magnet for those with ambition—perhaps none
more so than Arabella Duval Yarrington Worsham.

Born about 1850 in Richmond, Virginia, she spent her

formative years there, growing up with four siblings
in a boardinghouse run by her mother. Little more
is known about Arabella’s early adulthood, which she
kept deliberately murky, even fabricating part of her
history. No doubt desirous of leaving behind her past
and the uncertainties of post—Civil War Reconstruc-
tion in Virginia, Arabella moved to New York in 1867,
posing as the wife of John A. Worsham and, later, as
his widow. (Worsham, meanwhile, already had a wife,
and during Arabella’s “widowhood” moved back to
Richmond to be with her.) She remained in the city
with her mother and her son, Archer, born in 1870,
and embarked on a path of self-education, learning
about art and architecture, for example, and master-
ing the French language.' Known as Belle, Worsham
was a thoroughly modern individual who, despite her

humble beginnings, would ultimately transform her-



self into one of this country’s wealthiest women and a
formidable cultural figure.?

The agent of Arabella’s transformation was the
indomitable Collis P. Huntington (1821—-1900), who
had made his considerable fortune in railroads. Exactly
how she met Huntington and subsequently developed
a relationship with him cannot be determined. Absent
documentation, it has been suggested that she might
have met him when he traveled to Richmond on busi-
ness in the mid-1860s. It is equally possible that she met
him after she moved to New York. Nonetheless, it is pre-
sumably through funds secured from Huntington that
Arabella, of inarguably modest means, managed as a
single woman to provide for her mother and young son.
As their relationship blossomed, Huntington furnished
Arabella with enough money to purchase, in 1877, the
4 West Fifty-Fourth Street town house.” The four-story
brownstone building was originally constructed in
1864, and the lot included not just the house but also an
ample garden and two-story coach house."

As seen in a period photograph (fig. 2), the envi-
rons of the Worsham house, which today would be
considered the bustling streets of upper Midtown,
were sparsely developed at the time of Arabella’s pur-
chase, but her move there is exemplary of the migra-
tion of wealthy families from the fashionable Union
Square area to the less crowded streets of the Fifties
and Sixties on Fifth and Madison Avenues. As the city’s
industrialists began to accumulate enormous fortunes,
they sought to express their new prominence through
architecture and interiors that suited their aspirations.
They hired the nation’s most important architects to
build palatial monuments to their newfound status,
and New York’s leading decorators were charged with
furnishing and finishing these mansions in a style
befitting their arrival into society. Such attempts to
define a prestigious identity through property owner-
ship were not lost on Arabella. Arguably, her six-year
tenure at 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street, from 1878 until
1884, coincided with her deliberate self-reinvention as
a woman of substance, and it would mark the turning
point in her cultural and financial ascent.

In the spring of 1881, Worsham embarked on

an ambitious renovation, enlarging the house and

3. Alexandre Cabanel (French, 1823—1889). Arabella Worsham, 1882.
Oil on canvas, 85 % x 50 % in. (216.5 x 128.3 cm). Fine Arts
Museums of San Francisco; Gift of Archer M. Huntington (40.3.11)

completely stripping and redoing the interior deco-
rations of at least seven of its main rooms.” To do
so, she engaged the decorating firm of George A.
Schastey & Co., presumably on Huntington’s sug-
gestion. Huntington and Schastey were likely intro-
duced several years earlier, owing to Schastey’s work
on the San Francisco estates of Alfred Cohen and
Charles Crocker, associates of Huntington’s through
the Central Pacific Railroad. Huntington and his
first wife, Elizabeth, initially employed Schastey in
early November 1878, commissioning furnishings,
curtains, and upholstery work for the dressing room,
front parlor, billiard room, and back parlor at their

65 Park Avenue residence.®



In 1882 Worsham embarked with Archer, then
twelve, on her first Kuropean trip, spending the sum-
mer months in London and Paris.” The timing was
undoubtedly planned to coincide with the consid-
erable amount of construction work underway on
her home. Just as Schastey was providing her with
a whole new domestic backdrop, Arabella began
her own personal transformation by commission-
ing the Parisian society painter Alexandre Cabanel
to execute a full-length portrait of her in his studio
(fig. 3).* She stands tall in Cabanel’s painting, almost
courtly, with every bit of her five-foot, nine-and-a-
half-inch height draped in a sumptuous claret velvet
gown of the latest fashion, trimmed in lace and silk
ribbons. She wears only modest jewelry, including
a wedding band, keeping up the appearance of her
purported marriage to Worsham.” Her bright, seri-
ous gray eyes are framed by the spectacles she wore
throughout her life, and which she never removed for
any formal portrait. Both the painting and the home
renovations endowed Worsham with a new, loftier
persona, one befitting a consort of Huntington’s and
signaling her first steps toward establishing her rich
cultural legacy.

In line with Arabella’s aspirations, Schastey
borrowed deeply from Renaissance and Mannerist
sources for the interiors at 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street,
yet not in slavish appropriation. Rather, he adapted
these modes to his own aesthetic, one in keeping with
the design tenets of the day, favoring flattened, con-
ventionalized ornament with dashes of exoticism
drawn from the Islamic world. Schastey also took his
cues from his strong-willed client, for whom the town
house was but the first of several notable residences
whose designs she would oversee.” All the rooms in
the house were integrated, yet each maintained a
distinctive style appropriate for its intended use. Few
Gilded Age houses from New York remain intact, and
equally few interiors. The three preserved rooms from
4 West Fifty-Fourth Street—the Moorish reception
room, the bedroom, and the dressing room—are thus
important survivals from this transformative era in

the city’s history.

4. George A. Schastey & Co. (1873-97). Worsham-Rockefeller Dress-
ing Room, New York City, 1881—82. The Metropolitan Museum of
Art, New York; Gift of the Museum of the City of New York, 2008
(2009.226.1—19a—f)

THE WORSHAM-ROCKEFELLER
DRESSING ROOM

The dressing room (fig. 4) is a paradigm of both Ara-
bella’s taste and Schastey’s commissions. Situated on
the second floor between the bedroom and Arabella’s
library, the room was an intensely private space and
a tour de force despite—or, perhaps, because of—its
exclusivity. Now permanently installed in The Ameri-
can Wing at The Metropolitan Museum of Art, it is
one of the most sumptuous intact interiors of America’s
Gilded Age.

The dressing room presents a luxurious environ-
ment unified by built-in woodwork on all sides. It is
modest in scale (about 12 by 18 feet), but the ample
mirrors on three of its four walls create a sense of
depth. The woodwork inside and out is of solid sat-
mmwood, its shimmering, yellow color mellowed to
a warm caramel (fig. 5). Purpleheart, also known as
amaranth, an exotic imported wood so called for its
distinctive purplish color that quickly ages into the
rich mahogany tone seen today, was used for the
meticulous carvings and marquetry. The whole is
accented with mother-of-pearl, and the walls and ceil-
ing with gold and silver leaf and decorative painting.
Perhaps referencing the Renaissance studiolo (private
study), the marquetry depicts a dazzling assortment
of hair accessories, sewing implements, and jewelry,
a self-conscious reference to Arabella’s beauty and to
her status as a grand lady, outfitted with all the neces-
sary accoutrements.

True to the tenets of the Aesthetic movement, the
interior exemplifies the Gesamtkunstwerk, whereby a
total ensemble becomes a cohesive work of art.! Every
surface forms part of the room’s complex decorative
scheme, from the elaborate marquetry and carved
woodwork to the painted ceiling, stenciled walls, and

Turkish carpet. The blue-green walls, made richer



ale [/

Lo T SR ks

BT Y Rt




5. Detail of the wardrobe’s satinwood interior

by the depth of tone, are enlivened by an allover pat-
tern of simplified quatrefoils stenciled in gold and silver
leaf, which responded brilliantly to the flickering of
gaslight.” Indeed, the play of light was integral to the
room’s aesthetic. Together with the metallic stenciling,
lustrous mother-of-pearl inlays reflected the emana-
tions from the chandelier, two wall brackets, and an
unusual two-arm pendant light above the vanity. The
lacquered metal surfaces suggest gilt, and the distinc-
tive inset panels with vines and stylized flowers, also inlaid
with mother-of-pearl, add an exotic, jewel-like quality.

The room’s prescribed use for dressing speaks not
only to the proliferation of function-specific rooms
during the late nineteenth century but also to class
distinctions. Some idea of how dressing rooms were
considered during the period may be gleaned from
a passage in the first of Anthony Trollope’s Palliser
novels, Can You Forgive Her?, in which Mrs. Palliser

describes this special room:

Alice followed Lady Glencora across the passage into
what she called her dressing-room, and there found her-
self surrounded by an infinitude of feminine luxuries.
The prettiest of tables were there;—the easiest of
chairs;—the most costly of cabinets;—the quaintest
of old china ornaments. It was bright with the gayest
colours,—made pleasant to the eye with the binding
of many books, having nymphs painted on the ceil-
ing and little Cupids on the doors. “Isn’t it pretty?” she
said, turning quickly on Alice. “I call it my dressing-
room because in that way I can keep people out of it,
but I have my brushes and soap in a little closet there,

and my clothes,—my clothes are everywhere I suppose,

only there are none of them here. Isn’t it pretty?” **

To have a room devoted to one’s toilette was a rare
luxury in American homes, even in the burgeoning
Gilded Age. Arabella presumably used it to house
her fine gowns, hair ornaments, and jewelry, and
it 1s where a lady’s maid would have helped dress
her hair and adorn her person. It might also have
served as a private drawing room for activities such
as needlework, or perhaps for spending time with a
romantic partner.

One of the most remarkable features of the deco-
rative program is its overt reference to both the room’s
function and its female patron. The marquetry on the
sides of the door frame depicts several trophies, or
clusters, of feminine articles, including a comb, scis-
sors, and hand mirror, all associated with the dressing
of hair (see inside front cover). Above those items is an
étui—a decorative receptacle for small personal items
such as nail files, tweezers, or, alternatively, needles and
scissors for sewing—which hung as a chatelaine from a
woman’s waistband by a beaded chain attached at top
and bottom. The étui is paired with a darning egg with
a handle and two jeweled rings (see inside back cover).
At the top of the framing are two arrangements of
decorative hair combs (fig. 6). The larger clusters alter-
nate with delicate stylized renderings of necklaces and
earrings made of shells and floral-like elements. Such
site-specific imagery was common in libraries and din-
ing rooms, but to date, Arabella’s is the only known
American dressing room with ornamentation relevant

to its function. The subtle but intentional personaliza-



. Detail of the door surround, depicting hair combs, brooches, and

necklaces (fop), and detail of the dressing mirror cornice (bottom)

tion of the room is evident in the strings of bells—con-
sciously referencing Arabella’s nickname, Belle—seen
hung above the carved vases on the cabinet doors and
in more stylized versions painted on the gold and red
frieze. A similar strand of bells graces the attenuated
carving of a vase on the lone surviving bookcase (pri-
vate collection) from the adjoining library.

The close alignment of the decorative program
to both the room’s function and Arabella’s interests
suggests that she may have played a more active role
than was usual for a patron. For example, the motif of
jewelry items speaks to her passion for such personal
adornment. Witness the carved beaded chain threaded
through the tops of the C-scrolls in the crenellated
pediments of the built-in furnishings; the low-relief
carved necklaces on the cornices (fig. 7) and strung
over the decorative vases on the cabinet doors; and,

most explicitly, the shell, beaded, and pearl necklaces

held by the putti in the painted frieze and the jeweled
brooches below (see fig. 11). Even more exceptional are
the myriad necklaces, earrings, rings, and brooches
that compose the marquetry of the door and win-
dow casings. This unusual, if not unique, decorative
scheme was likely dictated by the room’s first inhabit-
ant and her penchant for jewelry.

Arabella’s nearly legendary love of pearls was not
limited to their appearance on her dressing-room
walls. She purchased numerous strings of cultured
pearls from Tiffany & Co. in Paris—four in February
1902 alone—as well as a string of large black pearls
formerly owned by the Duchess of Hamilton in 1908
and, at an unknown date, a long rope of 160 Orien-
tal pearls, called the “Morgan Pearls.”'* She can be
seen wearing some of these treasures in photographs
(fig. 8). Such was her obsession that her son, when mak-

ing an inventory of her jewelry in 1912 and learning



of a recent purchase of
pearls, commented that his
mother “had already nearly
all the pearls in the world
so these must be some that
got away!” " Over the years,
Arabella’s jewelry collec-
tion would grow to such an
extent that, at her death, it
was valued at $1,274,904 and
reportedly exceeded that of
Mrs. William C. Astor.'® Ara-
bella’s jewels and the lavish-
ness of her residence provided
her with private pleasures, for
she did not participate in the
entertainments that preoc-
cupied her economic peers,
owing, perhaps, to her various social liabilities.

The few furnishings in the dressing room were
made to be en suite with the woodwork. A delicate
dressing table, a small dressing glass, and two side
chairs are made of satinwood with purpleheart mar-
quetry and mother-of-pearl details. Loosely based on
Sheraton forms, the oval dressing table (fig. 9) has a
restrained top bordered by a band of stylized mother-
of-pearl motifs that repeat within a circle framed
by four conventionalized leaves. The table achieves
its lightness and interest from its legs, which swell
near the top and taper to slender ankles supporting a
stretcher with scroll fretwork, executed in a manner
now associated with Schastey. A dainty vine of sym-
metrical, stylized mother-of-pearl leaves descends and
tapers in correspondence with the leg’s shape. The
carved geometric forms at the tops of the legs sug-
gest a series of tight folds, while a small pad on the
stretchers, upholstered in its original teal silk plush
and slightly elevated at the back, provides a footrest.

A diminutive dressing glass with a gimbaled mir-
ror, one of the room’s most sophisticated and complex
elements, sits on top of the table. It 1s framed with
borders, both straight and slightly curved, and accen-
tuated by a meandering line of marquetry, which

expands in concert with the swells of the frame and

8. Photograph of Arabella Huntington, ca. 1906.
Hispanic Society of America, New York

condenses at its tapering
ends. Delicate marquetry of
mistletoe with tiny mother-
of-pearl berries decorates
the bottom frame. The glass
sits within two stiles sup-
ported by splayed legs with
carved graduated scales. It is
capped by two tiny but fully
sculptural heads of putti in
contrasting purpleheart,
mimicking the heads that
crown the crenellation of
the built-in wardrobe, dress-
ing glass, and vanity.

The two Neoclassi-
cal side chairs, with their
graduated bellflower inlays
on tapering legs, channel the spirit of Robert Adam
and George Hepplewhite (fig. 10). On the chairbacks,
the leaf ornament, with its subtly inscribed lion’s
heads, both full-face and in profile, relate closely to
the overall marquetry details of the room’s paneling,
as does the scallop shell centered on the bottom sup-
port panel, which echoes the shell-motif jewelry. A
small, fully upholstered slipper chair supplemented
the seating furniture.” An inventory taken in April
1884, in anticipation of the Rockefellers’ acquisition
of the town house, enumerates several more pieces of
dressing-room furniture during Arabella’s residency,
including a sofa, two matching armchairs, and “1 Plush
Table,” none of which are known to survive.'®

The painted decoration of the frieze and ceiling,
both on canvas, are attributed to the decorative painter
Virgilio Tojetti (1849—1901). Born in Rome, Tojetti
presumably trained under his father, Domenico, who
carried out commissions for the Vatican. He went on
to study in Paris at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts before
immigrating to the United States, in 1870." He began
his American career in Northern California, working
with his father on the many elaborately decorated
mansions under construction there in the early to
mid-1870s.2 Among his earliest documented commis-

sions were the ceiling and wall paintings, executed



9. George A. Schastey & Co. Dressing table and dressing glass from the
‘Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room. Satinwood, purpleheart, mother-
of-pearl, brass, silver-plated brass, brass, glass, and original upholstery,

H. (combined) 53 % in. (136.5 cm). The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New

York; Gift of The Museum of the City of New York, 2008 (2009.226.1—2)

in collaboration with his father and brother, for the
Leland Stanford Mansion on Nob Hill, in San Fran-
cisco. The decoration of the mansion was being under-
taken by Pottier & Stymus, with whom Schastey was
collaborating at the time.* In 1877 Schastey indepen-
dently completed a project, also on Nob Hill, for the
Central Pacific Railroad tycoon Charles Crocker, for
which Tojetti painted a large ceiling panel of Science
illuminating the Arts with putti representing Music,
Poetry, and History.* Such allegorical subject mat-
ter would become one of Tojetti’s trademarks. It is
likely that these early commissions, carried out while
Schastey was working in California, connected him
with Tojetti, leading to their partnership for the deco-
rative wall painting at 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street.

10. George A. Schastey & Co. Side chair (one of a pair) from the
‘Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room. Satinwood, purple-
heart, brass castors, and reproduction upholstery, H. 36 7/s in.
(93.7 cm). The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York; Gift
of The Museum of the City of New York, 2008 (2009.226.3)

For the dressing-room frieze, Tojetti applied his
style of allegory in ways that spoke to the room’s func-
tion while also heralding Arabella’s love of jewelry.
Each putti holds the end of a garland of shells and
two necklaces, one of pearls and the other of alternat-
ing pearls and gold beads (fig. 11). He arranged the
putti at even intervals, each with a distinctive visage
and in a different, lively pose, imbuing the room with
movement and a touch of whimsy. In contrast to the
dynamic frieze, the ceiling incorporates a program of
stenciled conventionalized leaf patterns and clusters
of flowers painted freehand in the room’s tertiary
color palette.

The attribution of the decoration and woodwork

in Arabella’s house has been the subject of much



11. Virgilio Tojetti (American, born Italy, 1849—1901). Frieze from the
Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room (detail), 1881-82. Oil on
canvas. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York; Gift of The
Museum of the City of New York, 2008 (2009.226.19a—f)

speculation over the past several decades. Such con-
troversy is emblematic of the complicated furniture
trade that existed at the highest level in New York
City during the late nineteenth century, underscored
by the recognition that even the largest firms, Herter
Brothers and Pottier & Stymus among them, often
outsourced to their competitors portions of sizable
commissions in order to meet tight deadlines. Pottier
& Stymus, Herter Brothers, and even Sypher & Com-
pany have been suggested as the authors of this work,
yet several pieces of evidence have firmly secured its
attribution to George A. Schastey.” First, Huntington
was an important patron of Schastey’s before the 4
West Fifty-Fourth Street commission and, indeed, for
two decades after. It was standard practice for Gilded
Age clients to remain loyal to a single decorator for
more than one commission, as seen, for instance,
with Pierpont Morgan’s and William H. Vanderbilt’s
patronage of Schastey’s competitor Herter Brothers.**

Furthermore, two letters written by Schastey in 1884,

the year that Worsham sold her recently renovated
house to John D. Rockefeller, provide documentary
proof*® One of these, written to Rockefeller prior to
the purchase and preserved in the family archives,
makes the following opportunistic claim: “I have
furnished the house 4 West 54th Street, and can give
you all the information you may desire, should you
contemplate buying.”* Following that, just weeks
after the property transfer, Schastey again wrote to
Rockefeller, scouting for future business: “Dear Sir,
We desire to state that the interior woodwork and
decoration of your new residence (4 W. 54th St) was
designed and executed by us. We should be pleased to
receive your order for any alteration or addition that
you may require.”?

Despite this rather explicit documentary evi-
dence, doubts persisted among scholars that Schastey,
a relatively unknown cabinetmaker, undertook the
commission. The discovery of a Steinway & Sons grand
piano with an elaborate art case documented as the
work of George A. Schastey & Co. was therefore a
critical key in confirming the attribution (fig. 12). The
serial number on the piano traces back to a factory
logbook in the Steinway company archives. In April
1882, an order was placed by William Clark, a prosper-
ous thread manufacturer who was building a mansion
in Newark, New Jersey, for a standard rosewood Model
B grand. The logbook entry goes on to state that the
plano was sent to Schastey “to be decorated” in June
of the same year. Schastey & Co. fabricated a new art
case of shimmering satinwood with carved and inlaid
Renaissance ornament of richly hued purpleheart,
delivering it to Clark on December 30, 1882.% An
unusual silver mount with Clark’s conjoined initials
and with fanciful heads at each corner still embel-
lishes the fallboard (fig. 13). The latter motifs relate
to the whimsical heads that Schastey incorporated
into the marquetry decoration of the dressing room.
Indeed, the piano’s materials as well as the stylistic
details of the carving and marquetry decoration relate
so closely to those in the dressing room that they are
unquestionably from the same workshop.

Beyond these similarities to the dressing room,

the Clark piano demonstrates a number of techniques
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12. Model B grand piano, New York City, 1882. Case by George A. Schastey & Co., piano by Steinway & Sons (founded 1853).
Satinwood, purpleheart, brass, and silver, H. opened 72 in. (182.9 cm). Collection of Paul Manganaro



13, 14. Details of the silver monogram on the fallboard (zop) and the
sounding board (bottorn) from the Model B grand piano (fig. 12)

and stylistic devices witnessed in Schastey’s oeuvre,
thereby enabling both the identification of other
works by his firm and the reevaluation of a num-
ber of examples of Aesthetic movement furniture
that were either unidentified or attributed to other
makers. For instance, the parallel hatch lines con-
tained within scrolled bands terminating in volutes
and enclosing the pewter satyr’s head on each of the
piano’s sounding boards (fig. 14) are distinctive of
Schastey’s firm, appearing also in Worsham’s dressing
room and bedroom as well as on other case furniture
attributed to Schastey. Additional decorative elements
on the piano, such as the abstract Moorish-inspired,
jigsaw-cut tendrils on the music stand, the robustly
carved classical female figures emerging from acan-
thus leaves on the legs (see p. 2), and the brass inlays,
appear in other items that survive from the 4 West
Fifty-Fourth Street house. Together with Schastey’s
letters to Rockefeller, this evidence confirms that
George A. Schastey & Co. was the principal outfitter

of the house’s interiors.



4 WEST FIFTY-FOURTH STREET

Although the house at 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street
no longer stands (the site is now the Abby Aldrich
Rockefeller Sculpture Garden at the Museum of
Modern Art), the intact rooms and preserved archi-
tectural elements and furnishings have proved sig-
nificant in the reevaluation of Schastey’s career and
Arabella’s role in devising the decorative scheme.
Photographs taken shortly after the house’s refur-
bishment—preserved in a recently discovered photo
album, presumably by Arabella, and now in the col-
lection of the Hispanic Society of America—yprovide
invaluable documentation of the house’s original
decorations.”” The photographs of the interiors were
most likely taken in 1883, following the completion of
renovations, or in 1884, before the sale of the house to
Rockefeller, but in either case they present the house
as 1t was soon after Schastey had completed his com-
mission. Having both the interiors and the exterior of
one’s home professionally photographed is consistent
with the practices of the time, particularly among the
wealthy. Indeed, the grand residences of many of the
most prominent individuals were recorded in the lav-
ish four-volume publication Artistic Houses (1883—84),
offering a thorough visual record of Gilded Age taste.
Arabella’s dubious social status may have prevented
her home from inclusion in that publication. That the
album was preserved by Arabella and passed down to
her son, Archer Huntington, who founded the His-
panic Society, signifies how highly she regarded both
Schastey’s work and the house itself.

Schastey’s firm oversaw all the woodwork, wall
treatments, ceiling murals, and floor coverings as well
as the built-in and movable furnishings. In keeping
with prevailing design dictums, each room was distin-
guished by different woods: the entrance hall was out-
fitted in mahogany; the drawing room, mahogany and
ebonized oak; the bedroom, ebonized cherry; and the
dressing room, satinwood and purpleheart. Likewise
au courant was the presence of patterning on nearly
every surface, from the parquet floors and Turk-
ish carpets to the painted ceilings and friezes to the

myriad wall coverings, individuated room by room.

15. Fragment of wall covering from the dining room of the Worsham-
Rockefeller House, British or American, 1878—82. Embossed and
gilded composition material, 23 5/s x 21 % in. (60 x 54.6 cm).
Cooper Hewitt, Smithsonian Design Museum, Smithsonian
Institution; Gift of John Davison Rockefeller, Jr.

The Moorish reception room, for one, was covered
in an exotically patterned fabric, while the entrance
hall featured a sophisticated flocked wallpaper with
a stylized foliate design in soft greens and deep reds on a
cream-colored ground. The dining room, meanwhile,
boasted a distinctive gold and burgundy Lincrusta
Walton (an embossed, leatherlike paper) with a pat-
tern of stylized blossoms (fig. 15) that recalled the
work of British Reform designers such as Bruce I
Talbert and William Morris.

Schastey subcontracted parts of the commission
to artists with specialized skills. In addition to decorative
paintings by Tojetti, stained glass by John La Farge can
be seen throughout the house, forming an integral part

of Schastey’s (and Arabella’s) design schemes.



16. Photograph of the entrance hall of the Worsham-Rockefeller House,
ca. 1883. Hispanic Society of America, New York

ENTRANCE HALL

With its highly decorative leaded-glass door lights and
transoms, the entrance hall announced immediately
the stylistic character of the house as a whole (fig. 16).
Accordingly, every one of its surfaces was patterned,
from the geometric parquet flooring, floral carpet,
and foliate wall coverings to the tapestry-upholstered
chairs and painted ceiling. Gracious in scale, the hall
was lavishly paneled in mahogany with a dado and
raised paneling on the walls as well as highly carved
built-in furnishings featuring an oak-leaf motif. A
jeweled metal-and-glass chandelier (fig. 17) lent a
colorful accent and hinted at the splendors within.
Anchoring the space was an enormous stairway with
unusual balusters that terminated in heavy, fluted col-
umuns, enlivened with carvings and an elongated tear-
drop motif.

A now-lost drawing of the leaded-glass door
lights in the hall with the pencil inscription “Mrs.
Worsham” captured the delicate but distinctly
Renaissance-style ornamentation that set the
tone for Schastey’s overall design aesthetic.*® This

taste is exemplified by a large built-in cabinet that

17. George A. Schastey & Co. Chandelier from the entrance
hall of the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Mahogany, brass,
glass, and marble, H. 106 in. (269.2 cm). Private collection

boldly reinterprets classicizing architectural orna-
ment (fig. 19). Bearded, scaly-bodied telamons (male
caryatids; fig. 20) topped by lonic capitals frame
the ample mirror, which is further delimited by
an inflated egg-and-dart molding and a geometric
checkerboard motif carved in low relief. The cor-
nice is a composite of architectural elements includ-
ing anthemia, scrolls and volutes, and exaggerated
dentiling, all given a fresh interpretation. Practical
concerns were addressed by the heating registers,
decorated in an oak-leaf pattern, near the bottom,
and the drawers, which concealed metal-lined pans
that would have been filled with water.

To the right of the entrance was an expansive
chimney breast framed by an architectural screen
(fig. 18). Abundant classical details include caryatids,
fluted pilasters, and the herms defining the sides of
the arch in front of the paneled overmantel. A sculp-
tural relief surmounting the fireplace depicts the
huntress Diana—fitting, perhaps, for a house owned
and occupied by an unmarried woman. Three large
lion’s heads support the mantel shelf. A period view of

the entrance hall is the only image to feature any sign
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18. George A. Schastey & Co. Chimney breast from the entrance hall of the Worsham-Rockefeller House.
Mahogany and brass, H. 167 Y in. (425.5 cm). Private collection
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of life in the house, a massive muscular French mas-
tiff (dogue de Bordeaux) lying in front of the fireplace,
which is itself guarded by a pair of carved lion’s-head
griffins with scaly, scrolling tails.

Worsham had an early interest in art collecting,
and displayed before a gracious, light-filled bay is the
marble sculpture Cupid Blindfolding Venus by F. G.
Villa, which had been exhibited at the 1879 Munich
International Art Exhibition. The magnificent leaded-
glass windows, all by La Farge, include three richly

colored transoms of fulsome swags of fruit and flowers

20

N O O 5 U O O O O O 0O 0O O 0 0 0 0 0 0 ) 0 0 e W s 0 00 0 I TR e B
(ST :

S8 S8 S S 8T T IV NI TRV T WA

George A. Schastey & Co. Cabinet from the entrance hall of the Worsham-Rockefeller House.
Mahogany, brass, glass, and marble, H. 106 in. (269.2 cm). Private collection

with jeweled bows and floating ribbons on an opalescent
ground. La Farge’s full-size rendering of the Roman god-
dess Ceres, also in leaded glass, centers the bay.

The La Farge windows provide cause for specu-
lation. The decorative insets of the doors and on the
landing of the grand staircase were clearly designed
to be integral to the house, but the other windows
appear to have been fitted into existing spaces, not
to accommodate an original architectural opening.
It has been suggested that the garland transoms may

originally have been part of La Farge’s commission



20. Detail of cabinet (fig. 19)

21. Photograph of the drawing room of the Worsham-Rockefeller House, ca. 1883.

Hispanic Society of America, New York

for Cornelius Vanderbilt II's house at Fifth Avenue
and Fifty-Seventh Street.®® Similarly, the Ceres win-
dow appears to have been made originally for the new
Fifth Avenue mansion of Huntington’s friend Darius
Ogden Mills, another railroad magnate.”® Regardless,
the highly classical female goddess fit perfectly in both

pose and subject into Schastey’s decorative scheme.

DRAWING ROOM

The drawing room (fig. 21) was atypical in its integra-
tion of various woods, combining mahogany and rose-
wood woodwork with ebonized oak furnishings. The
mahogany chimney breast (fig. 22), with its carved
female figures emerging from acanthus leaves, calls
to mind similar motifs in the Clark piano case. With-
out the recently discovered interior photographs of
the Worsham house, taken about 1883, the identifi-
cation of two other surviving elements would not
have been possible. A massive cabinet that sat under
William-Adolphe Bougereau’s painting Mother and
Child (Temptation) (1880), which Huntington had

purchased at auction for Worsham in February 1880,*
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has been recently reattributed to Schastey based on
its presence in the drawing room and its relation-
ship to other Schastey furnishings. Although slightly
altered at an unknown date, the generously scaled
cabinet (fig. 23) incorporates many features found
elsewhere in the 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street house,
among them the carved putti, beaded garlands, flat-
tened oak-leaf swags, and undulating ribbons. The
most unusual features, however, are its two massive
brass medallions and drawer pulls in a loosely inter-
preted Celtic style. Each comprises an eight-pointed
star ornamented with brown and white agate bosses.
The decorative “jewel” 1s similar to the one used to
embellish the center table (see fig. 26) in the Moorish
reception room, itself a brilliant hybrid of classical
and Islamic influences.

The other Schastey piece to come to light based
on photographs of the drawing room is a single side
chair, one of two known, also of ebonized oak (fig. 24).
It features finely carved oak leaves and beaded ribbons
on the concave crest rail as well as square, “hairy paw”

feet, all characteristic of Schastey furniture.






22. George A.Schastey & Co. Chimney breast from the drawing
room of the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Mahogany, brass,
glass, gilded wood, and polychrome pigment, H. 149 in.
(378.5 cm). Private collection

23. George A.Schastey & Co. Cabinet from the drawing room
of the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Ebonized oak, brass,
gilded bronze, and agate, H. 60 % in. (153.7 cm). Seattle Art
Museum; The Guendolen Carkeek Plestcheeff Endowment
for the Decorative Arts, The Decorative Arts and Paintings
Council and the Decorative Arts Acquisition Fund, in honor
of the 75th Anniversary of the Seattle Art Museum (2006.5)

24. George A.Schastey & Co. Side chair from the drawing room of
the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Ebonized oak, metal casters,
and later upholstery, H. 37 % in. (95.3 cm). Brooklyn Museum;

Gift of John D. Rockefeller I1T (53.245.1)




25. George A. Schastey & Co. Side chair from the Moorish reception
room of the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Ebonized cherry, brass,
and original appliqués on later upholstery, H. 27 % in. (69.9 cm).
Brooklyn Museum; Gift of John D. Rockefeller, Jr. (46.43.7)

MOORISH RECEPTION ROOM

The Moorish reception room (fig. 27), now installed
at the Brooklyn Museum, was one of the most richly
detailed and ornamented rooms in the house. Variably
referred to as Turkish or Moorish during the period,
the stylistic derivation was one that decorators began
to employ as early as 1860, generally reserved for the
masculine functions of a smoking room. Its most dis-
tinctive features are the patterned plasterwork ceiling
and frieze decorations highlighted in polychrome.
The woodwork and furniture of ebonized cherry
appear almost restrained, balancing the proliferation
of ornament in other media.

Considered a second living space, the Moorish
room, with its unusual frieze and architectural details,
conjured up visions of distant lands. The seating fur-
niture (fig. 25) comprised fully upholstered divans set
against the wall together with other chairs en suite,
including delicate ebonized side chairs that synthe-
sized elements from the Islamic world and the Anglo-
Japanese style. The octagonal center table (fig. 26) was
embellished with Moorish arches and carving. Most
striking were the brilliant green malachite bosses

applied to the brackets. The room was further unified by
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26. George A. Schastey & Co. Center table from the Moorish reception
room of the Worsham-Rockefeller House. Ebonized cherry, brass,
and malachite, H. 30 % in. (86.4 cm). Brooklyn Museum; Gift of
John D. Rockefeller, Jr. (46.43.4)

27. George A. Schastey & Co. Moorish reception room from the
Worsham-Rockefeller House. Brooklyn Museum; Gift of John D.
Rockefeller, Jr.

the fabric used for the seating upholstery, portieres, and
curtains, all of a rich teal blue silk plush with appliqués
cut from antique Ottoman textiles in contrasting oranges

and gold.

DINING ROOM

The dining room, as was customary during the period,
was outfitted in oak. The woodwork, large built-
in sideboard, chimney breast, and chairs were all
designed en suite and shared a decorative vocabulary.
To date, the chimney breast is the only known piece of
woodwork to survive, but it amply suggests the decor
of the room overall (fig. 28). Apart from two griffin-
like dogs in profile that flank the fireplace, most of the
ornament relates to the room’s function. Identifiable
among the alimentary motifs that predominate are
pomegranates, ears of corn, grains of wheat, several
types of nuts, and peas in their pods. These details, all
deftly carved, adorn the crest rails of the chairs, the
chair-rail molding, the sideboard, and the mantel and
frame of the canted overmantel mirror of the chim-
ney breast. The cornice and corner-framing elements
of the latter are further embellished with various

forms of Renaissance strapwork.
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eorge A. Schastey & Co. Chimney breast from the dining room of the Worsham-Rockefeller House.
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29. George A. Shastey & Co. Bedroom from the Worsham-Rockefeller
House. Virginia Museum of Fine Arts, Richmond; Gift of the
Museum of the City of New York

BEDROOM
In contrast to the adjoining dressing room, the exten-
sively decorated woodwork of Arabella’s large second-
floor bedroom (figs. 29, 31), now installed at the Virginia
Museum of Fine Arts, Richmond, was completely
ebonized with marquetry decoration in a lighter wood.
Ebonized bedroom suites were de rigueur during the
late 1870s and early 1880s, as seen in numerous exam-
ples by Herter Brothers, including one the firm fab-
ricated, in 1878, for Collis Huntington’s Park Avenue
house (now in the collection of the Saint Louis Art
Museum). The flat marquetry decoration in Arabella’s
bedroom, of stylized vines and leaves, relates to the
Herter suite in its embrace of the Anglo-Japanese style
favored by British and American designers during the
Aesthetic movement. A variety of designs adorn the
architectural elements and freestanding furnishings.
The side chairs, for example, fully upholstered and
tufted, feature swags of highly conventionalized blos-
soms on their crest rails (fig. 30).

Most of the original furnishings from the bedroom

remain 1in situ, save for a delicate worktable (fig. 32)
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30. George A. Schastey & Co. Side chair from the bedroom of the
Worsham-Rockefeller House. Ebonized cherry, other woods, brass
casters, and reproduction upholstery, H. 35 % in. (90.2 cm). Virginia
Museum of Fine Arts, Richmond; Gift of the Museum of the City
of New York (2008.213)

that was removed at an unknown date. Constructed
of purpleheart, the imported wood that Schastey
so often favored, it displays on its splayed legs and
along the edges of its tabletop a shimmering, scale-
like design of inlaid brass, pewter, colored resin, and
mother-of-pearl. Such patterned metalwork, indebted
to Asian and Near Eastern sources, can be found on
other examples of Schastey’s work, as noted in an
1883 trade publication: “Ornamentation by means of
marqueterie has become very popular, some choice
pieces, inlaid in geometrical designs with mother of
pearl and brass, were shown by Geo. Schastey & Co.,
of No. 9 East Nineteenth street, this style of decora-
tion is quite new and very successful in its results.”*
Other features of the worktable that are now associ-
ated with Schastey are the carved details, marquetry,
ribbons and swags, and square paw feet. Additionally,
its decorative drawer pulls are identical to those on the
dressing room’s smaller drawers. The table embodied
the inspired moment in the early 1880s when inter-
national exoticism was grafted onto historical West-

ern European forms to create something altogether



31. Photograph of the bedroom of the Worsham-Rockefeller
House, ca. 1883. Hispanic Society of America, New York

32. George A. Schastey & Co. Worktable from the bedroom of the
Worsham-Rockefeller House. Purpleheart, satinwood, walnut,
mahogany, poplar, brass, pewter, mother-of-pearl, glass, col-
ored resin, and original and reproduction textiles, H. 30 % in.
(78.1 ecm). Munson-Williams-Proctor Arts Institute, Museum
of Art, Utica, New York; Museum Purchase by exchange
with gifts from Jane B. Sayre Bryant and David E. Bryant
in memory of the Sayre Family, and from the H. Randolph

Lever Bequest

33,34. John La Farge (American, 1835-1910). Morning and Evening
from the bedroom of the Worsham-Rockefeller House, ca. 1881.
Leaded opalescent glass and painted decoration, each 48 x 35 %% in.
(121.9 x 90.2 cm). American Academy of Arts and Letters, New York
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new, and which, in its graceful proportions, artistic
flair, and ornamentation, was at once luxurious and
restrained.

Facing the bed was a recessed bay resembling a
Moorish reclining space, which could be glimpsed
from the bed through an arched opening with a fanci-
ful stained-glass frieze at the top. The two La Farge
windows installed in the bay featured, in a manner
typical of the artist’s early work, classically garbed
female figures in robes of greens and blues, hues much
favored by La Farge. Appropriately for a bedroom,
the subjects were allegories of Morning and Evening
(figs. 33, 34), and they appeared against a richly colored
background with an allover pattern of stylized leaves
that recalls wallpaper designs by William Morris.

The doors to either side of the bed led to the hall
and the water closet; the latter housed the toilet and
bathtub. The ceramic tiles that surrounded the tub (figs.
35,36) replicated seventeenth-century Iznik tiles from
Turkey, but they were nonetheless contemporary, pro-
duced in Gien, France, in patterns and a palette similar
to those of their prototypes.

Even though she had redecorated the house from
top to bottom—and at a most extraordinary level—
Worsham enjoyed her Fifty-Fourth Street home for
only a few years. Huntington’s ailing wife died in
the fall of 1883, and nine months later, on July 12,
1884, Belle Worsham, then 34 years old, married the
64-year-old Collis Huntington. By that time, Hun-
tington had become extremely wealthy from astute
investments in and joint ownership of the Southern
Pacific and the Central Pacific Railroads. Two days
before the wedding, he transferred the title to his
house on Park Avenue and Thirty-Eighth Street from
his late wife’s name to Arabella’s. No longer needing
the Fifty-Fourth Street town house, Arabella sought
a buyer, and ownership was transferred to the oil mag-
nate John D. Rockefeller shortly thereafter.® John D. and
Laura Spelman Rockefeller moved into the house—
fully furnished and assuming all of the original dec-
orations—in October 1884. They would make few

changes to it over the ensuing decades.
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35. Tiles from the bathroom of the Worsham-Rockefeller House, Gien,
France, ca. 1880. Glazed earthenware, each 7 7/s x 7 7/s in. (20 x
20 cm). Cooper Hewitt, Smithsonian Design Museum, Smithsonian
Institution; Gift of John Davison Rockefeller, Jr.

36. Photograph of the bathroom of the Worsham-Rockefeller House,
ca. 1937. Rockefeller Archive Center, Tarrytown, New York



GEORGE A. SCHASTEY
While the dressing room and other interiors of 4 West
Fifty-Fourth Street are now firmly assigned to George A.
Schastey & Co., two questions remain: Who was George
Schastey, and how did he become one of the leading cabi-
netmakers and decorators in late nineteenth-century
New York? Extensive research and new discoveries
have shed light on this previously obscure artist.”” Born
in Merseburg, Prussia (modern Germany), on May
4, 1839, George Alfred Schastey (1839—-1894) immi-
grated to New York with his family in 1849, no doubt
fleeing the agricultural blight, economic depression,
and political turmoil that prompted tens of thousands
of Germans to seek a new life in America at that
time.*® Schastey was apprenticed to an upholsterer in
the New York cabinetmaking trade between the ages of
fourteen and twenty-one, only to have his early career
interrupted by the outbreak of the Civil War® He was
quick to enlist and served with distinction in the 83rd and
68th New York Volunteer Infantry Regiments, rising in
rank from private to captain.”

Following the Civil War, New York’s cabinetmak-
ing industry expanded rapidly to keep pace with a
boom 1in residential-housing construction on a scale
never before seen in the United States. The demands
of the nation’s nouveau riche for extravagant, artistic
interiors and objets d’art caused luxury cabinetmakers
and decorators such as Herter Brothers, Pottier & Sty-
mus, and Cottier & Co. to employ larger numbers of
carvers, gilders, finishers, and upholsterers than ever
before, drawing from the influx of skilled immigrant
craftsmen flooding the city. Schastey worked for some
of these premier luxury cabinetmaking and decorat-
ing firms in New York." By 1869, at the age of thirty,
he had assumed a prominent position with Pottier &
Stymus, which became one of the largest firms in
a crowded field, employing a reported four hundred
workers.”? That same year, he was among the few
employees listed on a presentation gift to cofounder
Auguste Pottier commemorating the tenth anniver-
sary of the firm.” Schastey also worked for Herter
Brothers, founded by his fellow Germans Gustave and
Christian Herter.** His last stop before going inde-
pendent was at the firm of Conrad Boller, today little

known but recognized in the period as the primary
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supplier of furnishings to William M. “Boss” Tweed’s
Courthouse.” Schastey’s experience at these three
leading firms irrevocably shaped his design aesthetic
and his penchant for fine craftsmanship. Indeed,
throughout his career Schastey would continue to
compete and collaborate with his mentors Pottier &
Stymus and Herter Brothers, hiring former cowork-
ers and thus muddying later attempts by scholars to
delineate their respective outputs.*

This collaboration between competitors is best
demonstrated by the series of Gilded Age mansions
built in Northern California during the 1870s for the
nation’s leading railroad tycoons. The completion of
the transcontinental railroad, in 1869, opened up the
American West as a new market for goods and ser-
vices, and many high-end New York decorating firms
kept their coffers filled with West Coast commissions.
Given the scale and complexity of providing entire
custom 1interiors some three thousand miles from
the principal site of production, these commissions
often involved several firms. Deeply immersed in the
bicoastal market for luxury goods, Schastey chose pre-
cisely this fertile moment to establish his own shop,
crafting custom orders for high-end clients.

Schastey opened his first factory in 1873, at 213
West Thirty-First Street, New York. On July 10 of
that year, he filed a patent for an “improvement in
adjustable reclining-chairs.”* His invention, by using
catch-bolts and springs to keep the arms in plane,
gave sitters more stability and control as they shifted
the chair back and leg supports into position (fig. 37);
the patent was granted in December. At the time, pat-
ent filers were required to submit a small working
model to demonstrate the viability of their proposal,
and remarkably, Schastey’s survives in near-pristine
condition (fig. 38).* Doll-like in its proportions at a
mere ten inches tall, the walnut model, complete
with its original yellow-and-black-striped silk uphol-
stery with braided guilloche trim, even retains its
identification tags.

In the 1870s Schastey worked on a number of
prestigious West Coast commissions. The first docu-
mented was for Fernside, Alfred A. Cohen’s extrava-
gant fifty-two-room Italianate mansion in Alameda,

California. Cohen, the chief attorney for the Central
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37. George A. Schastey (American, born Germany,
1839—1894). Patent design for improvement to adjust-
able reclining-chairs, New York City, 1875. U.S. Patent
145,595.

38. George A. Schastey. Patent model for an adjustable reclining-chair, New York
City, 1873. Walnut, paper labels, and original silk upholstery, H. 10 in. (25.4
cm). The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York; Gift of Mr. and Mrs. John
Schorsch, 2008 (2008.639)

Pacific Railroad, began construction on Fernside in
1872, with refurbishments by a sequence of promi-
nent New York and California firms—Herter Brothers,
Pottier & Stymus, and W. & J. Sloan among them—
taking place between 1874 and 1888.* A recently discovered
letter from Cohen to his wife, dated October 15, 1874,
reveals that Schastey’s fledgling firm was on-site and
actively engaged in aspects of the decoration of Fern-
side’s dining room, although not entirely to Cohen’s

satisfaction:

I learned this morning for the first time from Schasteys
man that he sent a Red Marble slab for dinning [sic]
room sideboard instead of Egyptian Green as I ordered.
This is very provoking as the carpet for that room was
changed to Green to suit the marble. I telegraphed to
Will today to tell Schastey that I do not want the red
marble. . .. It will be out of the question using a green
carpet with the red marble.”

Pottier & Stymus, the principal decorators of the
house at the time, likely subcontracted Schastey, their
former employee, to fill portions of the order, includ-

ing the marble tabletop referenced in the letter.”
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Schastey’s participation in the Fernside commis-
sion and his previous affiliations with the leading
cabinetmakers of the day probably aided him in secur-
ing future commissions with Cohen’s associates in the
railroad industry: Leland Stanford, Mark Hopkins Jr.,
Charles Crocker, and, most significantly, Collis Hun-
tington, the so-called Big Four.”® Between 1875 and
1877, Stanford, Hopkins, and Crocker all broke ground
on new palatial residences on San Francisco’s fashion-
able Nob Hill. These commissions provided Schastey,
as well as his former employers Pottier & Stymus and
Herter Brothers, with an influx of custom orders for
elaborate interior woodwork, furnishings, and other
decorations, securing him a first-rate reputation.®

Buoyed by these early successes, Schastey’s busi-
ness continued to grow, allowing him to undertake
more significant portions of the California commis-
sions and even, on some occasions, to act as lead deco-
rator. About 1875, he moved his New York workshop to
East Seventeenth Street—on the north side of Union
Square, just off Broadway and “Ladies Mile,” the cen-
ter of high-end shopping at the time—and opened

a showroom there. As the firm continued to operate



39. Sideboard for the Charles Crocker mansion, by George A. Schastey.
Tlustrated in George Titus Ferris, Gems of the Centennial Exposition
(New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1877), p. 140

40. Attributed to George A. Schastey & Co. for Pottier & Stymus (active
ca. 1859-1910). Cabinet from the James C. Flood House, New York
City, ca. 1878. Satinwood, purpleheart, glass, and brass, H. 121 in.
(307.3 cm). Hotel del Coronado, California

on a made-to-order basis, the items displayed were
intended to entice and inspire clients by demonstrating
the full range of the firm’s aesthetic and technical capa-
bilities** By 1876, while still maintaining a showroom in
Union Square, Schastey further increased the firm’s pro-
duction capacity by relocating the factory to a larger, five-
story building with an adjacent woodlot at the corner of
Fifty-Third Street and Broadway.®

Schastey’s growing enterprise, connections, and
reputation in California secured him the commis-
sion for the principal rooms in Crocker’s Nob Hill
mansion. Although the house no longer stands, con-
temporary accounts give a sense of its grandeur and
artistry. Schastey is credited with the “highly artistic
furnishing” of the library, which had satinwood trim-
mings and movable walnut furniture, and the oak din-
ing room, outfitted in the popular Louis XIV Revival
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style.” Schastey exhibited the massive oak sideboard
destined for the dining room at the International Cen-
tennial Exhibition of 1876, in Philadelphia (fig. 39),
where it garnered a bronze medal (first place) and
was praised for its “artistic design and practicability,”
“thorough workmanship,” and “excellent finish.”*
Approximately sixteen feet tall, the sideboard followed

standard classical tropes in its architectonic form and
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combination of figural and foliate carving, with a cen-
tral Bacchus head flanked by putti, candelabra-style
grotesques, classical herms and urns, ripple molding,
and meandering acanthus. It also incorporated a mas-
sive looking glass in the upper panel, an expensive,
heavy, and fragile commodity to transport across the
country by rail.®

Schastey likely also collaborated with Pottier & Stymus
on its commission for the James C. Flood mansion
in Menlo Park, California, in 1878.* Surviving fur-
nishings—most significantly a Renaissance-inspired
cabinet with an arched segmental pediment, classical
columns, carved panels, and griffin supports (fig. 40)—
relate in ornament and materials to Schastey’s work
for Arabella Worsham and William Clark a few years
later. They represent masterful early expressions of his
distinctive style, which combined expertly handled pas-
sages of high- and low-relief carving with intricate mar-
quetry in exotic woods and metals.

In 1880 Schastey brought on a partner, William
M. Williams, a specialist in upholstery and trimmings,
and renamed the firm George A. Schastey & Co.* The
new entity had grown to support a large staff of more
than 125 employees.” Remarking on the firm’s growth
and ambition, the Dun credit reports (forerunner of
Dun & Bradstreet) cautioned that Schastey’s opera-
tion was “doing rather too much business for their
capital.”® And indeed, throughout his career Schastey
would struggle for credit and liquidity owing to the
nature of custom-order production, which required
a significant outlay for materials up front but took
receipt of payment only after completion. Further
complicating matters, Schastey’s career corresponded
with an extended deflationary period that endured
three separate financial recessions, in 1874, 1885, and
1894. Correspondence from Schastey to the Rockefell-
ers and the Huntingtons in the 1880s attests to the
uncertain economy and Schastey’s ongoing financial
concerns. For instance, feeling the exigencies of the
depression, Schastey wrote to Huntington in 1885:
“We have been unexpectedly disappointed about
some payments. It would be a great favor if you would
kindly give herein [?] $3,000. This will make the total
payment on wood-work for Country house Stained
Glass at [?] $15,000, all of which is at the house.”






41—44. George A. Schastey & Co., possibly by W. August Fiedler (American, born f
Germany, 1842—1903). Designs for window treatments and overmantels for
the Edward C. Hegeler House, ca. 1880. 7op left: pen and ink, transpar-
ent and opaque watercolor, metallic pigment, and graphite on wove paper,
sheet 15 5 x 10 in. (39.4 x 25.4 cm); top right: pen and ink, transparent
and opaque watercolor, metallic pigment, and graphite on wove paper,
sheet 17 x 14 in. (43.2 x 35.6 cm); bottom left: pen and ink, watercolor, and
graphite on wove paper, sheet 17 x 14 in. (43.2 x 35.6 cm); bottom right:
pen and ink, watercolor, metallic pigment, and graphite on tissue paper,
sheet 10 2 x 10 in. (26.7 x 25.4 cm). The Hegeler Carus Mansion, La Salle,
Illinois
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45. George A. Schastey & Co. Drawing room of the Samuel Nickerson
House, ca. 1880, now The Richard H. Driehaus Museum, Chicago

Like his New York peers, Schastey enjoyed nation-
wide renown. About 1880 the firm submitted pro-
posals for renovations to the grand Second Empire
mansion of zinc manufacturer Edward Hegeler in La
Salle, Illinois. Now known as the Hegeler Carus man-
sion, the house was initially decorated between 1874
and 1876 by W. August Fiedler, a German designer
and architect who, after working in New York, estab-
lished himself as one of the Chicago area’s highly
competent decorators and cabinetmakers.® Fiedler,
however, was bankrupt by 1879, owing to a common
blunder of the custom-design business: “giving rich
people better work than they will pay for.”® He was
forced to return to New York and enter the employ of
Schastey & Co., transferring his unfinished commis-
sions to the firm.%

Ten signed designs from about 1880, the only
known drawings by Schastey & Co., demonstrate how
the firm conveyed to clients the details of their cus-
tomized requests.” The sheets vary from rough pencil
sketches to highly finished gouache and watercolor
renderings of window hangings, fireplace mantels,
and freestanding furniture. Particular attention was
lavished on the designs for curtains, which depict the
intricate patterns and subtle hues of the lace panels
and silk textiles (figs. 41, 42). Two drawings suggest
two different treatments for an overmantel mirror
and woodwork, presumably incorporating a preexist-

ing and earlier mantelpiece (figs. 43, 44). One depicts
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46. George A. Schastey & Co., design possibly by
'W. August Fiedler. Armchair from the drawing room
of the Samuel Nickerson House, ca. 1880. Satinwood,
brass, and modern upholstery, H. 42 3/s in. (108.3 cm).
Richard H. Driehaus Museum, Chicago

the requisite bric-a-brac to aid the client in envision-
ing the completed effect.

About the same time that the drawings were
made, the firm’s relationship with Fiedler engendered
its work on the Samuel Nickerson house (1879-83),
now the Richard H. Driehaus Museum, in Chicago.®
Schastey & Co. provided the interior woodwork and
furnishings for a number of rooms left unfinished by
Fiedler.” One of these, the drawing room, is executed
in satinwood embellished with delicate marquetry and
low-relief carving, punctuated by intricately carved
three-dimensional flowers and foliage (fig. 45). The
flat, stylized ornament on the dado paneling, with its
classically inspired urns, vines, and geometric bands,
channels the restrained aesthetic of Charles Eastlake and
the English Reformers, while the robust naturalistic
carving on the door surrounds harks back to the pre-
vailing Neo-Grec tastes of the 1860s and 1870s. This
free amalgamation of different styles and the combi-
nation of carving and marquetry express an exuber-
ant, and quintessentially American, hybridity.

Among the few Nickerson furnishings original
to the mansion, a set of four satinwood armchairs in
the drawing room that references a mix of histori-
cal styles can be confidently attributed to Schastey
(fig. 46). Several design flourishes, while not individu-
ally unique, can in combination be associated with his
oeuvre: the flat, square paw feet; the crisply rendered

classical female busts wearing diadems; the flared and
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47. Trade card for George A. Schastey, 1876-79.
Paper and ink, 2 % x 3 % in. (5.7 x 9.5 cm).
Collection of Paul Manganaro

48. Photograph of the drawing room of the

William Clark House, Newark, New Jersey.
Illustrated in Artistic Houses 1, part 2 (1883)

Q

49. George A. Schastey & Co. Chair from the drawing room of the William
Clark House, Newark, New Jersey, ca. 1882. Satinwood, purpleheart, brass,
and modern upholstery, H. 40 in. (101.6 cm). Collection of Marco Polo
Stufano and the late John H. Nally

0. Detail of chair (fig. 49)



stop-fluted stiles terminating in volutes; and the design
and handling of the oak-leaf swags with trailing ribbons
on the crest rail. Small details such as the piercing of the
winged brackets and the interlacing at the juncture of
the wings, armrest, and chair back to give the impres-
sion of a continuous line lend an unexpected and almost
modern element of lightness to the winged sphinxes.
Shortly after his work on the Nickerson house, in
the winter of 1881 Schastey embarked on the renova-
tions at 4 West Fifty-Fourth Street for Arabella Worsham,
the commission that now defines his career. A full-
service firm, Schastey & Co. boasted the significant
workforce necessary to undertake the specialized
decorative work required. As indicated by one of two
known Schastey trade cards, the firm, in what would
become the norm for cabinetmakers working in the
late 1870s and early 1880s, was prepared to provide

” “architectural wood work,” “interior

“artistic furniture,
decoration,” and “upholstery” (fig. 47).”

Concurrent with the Worsham commission,
Schastey worked extensively on the interiors for the
large brick mansion that William Clark began build-
ing in Newark, New Jersey, in 1879.”" Of Scottish
descent, Clark had made his fortune in the family busi-
ness, Clark Thread Company, which operated several
factories in Newark. Were it not for the 1dentification
of the Schastey-designed art case for Clark’s Steinway
& Sons grand piano (see figs. 12-14), the attribution
of the Clark interiors and furnishings might never
have been made. The piano, partially obscured by a
textile cover, appears in the foreground of the photo-
graph of Clark’s drawing room in Artistic Houses, the
sumptuous four-volume chronicle of Gilded Age inte-
riors published from 1883 to 1884 (fig. 48).” Although
the decorator responsible for Clark’s interiors goes
unmentioned in the descriptive text, the other pieces
visible in the photograph confirm that the drawing
room’s furnishing were made en suite with the piano.

A surviving pair of chairs from this suite, now
reupholstered and missing their arms (fig. 49), features
bands of ivy marquetry, inset with brass rectangles
along the seat rails, that resemble decorative passages
on the sides of the piano. The carved putti-head fini-

als (fig. 50) and elaborate floral marquetry on the crest

. Tall-case clock, probably from the William Clark House,

Newark, New Jersey, 1882. Case by George A. Schastey & Co.,
movement by Tiffany & Co. (founded 1837). Ebonized oak,
leaded glass, and brass, H. 96 in. (243.8 cm). Collection of
Brian A. Emery



52. George A. Schastey &
Co. Cabinet, New York
City, ca. 1880. Satinwood,
purpleheart, glass, and
brass, H. 78 % in. (198.8
cm). Mission Inn Hotel
and Spa, Riverside, Cali-

fornia
53. Detail of cabinet (fig. 52)

54. Detail of woodwork in
the Worsham-Rockefeller
Dressing Room




rails also resemble decorative details in the Worsham
dressing room (fig. 50). In addition to the individual
furnishings from the drawing room, much of the first-
floor interior architectural woodwork remains intact
at the Clark mansion, including the dining room and
hall, which were also pictured in Artistic Houses.™

An intricate ebonized oak tall-case clock, likely
made for the Clark mansion, has several distinctive
features now associated with Schastey’s firm (fig. 51).
The clockworks and dial were made by Tiffany & Co.,
and by matching the dial’s serial number to the Tif-
fany & Co. logbooks, the attribution to Schastey as
the maker of the case is confirmed.” The interlaced
strapwork, punctuated by bosses at the base, invokes
Renaissance sources while showcasing Schastey’s
distinctive repeated hatch lines. Along the console
brackets that flank the waist are figural carvings, fruit
festoons, and undulating ribbons with paired ends
that recall decorative elements in the dressing room.
Another unusual feature is its leaded-glass door; the
pattern of the leading may have been designed by
Schastey. Note especially the border of the panel, with
its tight, repeated lead lines; these serve no structural
function but are employed for decorative effect, mim-
icking a design characteristic of the carving.

A large satinwood cabinet, although undocu-
mented, may also be associated with the mansion, for
its materials and ornamental scheme align closely
with both the Clark and the Worsham commissions
(fig. 52).” The alternating bands of brass and the
purpleheart floral marquetry below the center shelf
and upper tiers are identical to passages on the Clark
chairs and piano, while the carved heads relate to sim-
ilar elements in the Worsham dressing room (figs. 53,
54). Meanwhile, the teardrop-shaped brass inlays bor-
dering the pediment find parallels in both the Clark
piano’s fallboard and Arabella’s bedroom worktable.
The distinctive hatched scrolls, complemented by
radiating floral tendrils and arabesques, also echo the
artistic and contemporary marquetry designs found
throughout the dressing room. The elaborate brass
hardware on the cabinet doors lends an exotic touch.

The cabinet relates to a satinwood dressing table

with a marble top that likewise cannot be documented
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55. George A. Schastey & Co. Dressing table, New York City, 1881-82.
Satinwood, purpleheart, white pine, marble, mother-of-pearl,

silver-plated drawer pulls, brass, mirrored glass, and reproduction
upholstery, H. 86 3/s in. (219.4 ¢cm). High Museum of Art, Atlanta;
Virginia Carroll Crawford Collection

to a specific commission (fig. 55).” Connected stylis-
tically and in function to Arabella’s dressing table
and built-in vanity, the table is surmounted by a nar-
row cabinet that opens to reveal a three-part mirror.
Framing the carving on the upper panels is a mar-
quetry border of mother-of-pearl and purpleheart.
The classical swags and ribbons on the cornice, the
graduated bellflowers on the legs, and the peacock
feathers and masks on the middle rail are character-
istic of Schastey’s work, while the piece’s distinctive
silvered-brass drawer pulls match those in both the
dressing room and bedroom. Similarly, the intricate
Moorish-inspired jigsaw-cut piercings on the stretcher
of meandering tendrils and teardrops are almost
identical to that on the Clark piano and on the case
sides of the satinwood cabinet. As such, the dressing

table showcases several Schastey hallmarks: the use of



56. Wall clock, New York City, 1881. Case by George A. Schastey & Co.,
movement by Tiffany & Co. Walnut, pine, glass, brass, and silver-
plated brass, H. 40 in. (101.6 cm). Private collection, Houston

satinwood and purpleheart; a seamless fusion of late
Renaissance and Moorish designs onto a late eigh-
teenth-century form; the playful use of grotesques;
and meticulous craftsmanship throughout.

A large lyre-shaped wall clock with an elaborate
Renaissance-style walnut case and a plain dial simply
inscribed “Geo. A. Schastey & Co.” is one of the artist’s
only “signed” works (fig. 56). It is noted in a Tiffany
& Co. logbook specifying that the firm made a clock
dial for Schastey in 1881 and engraved it, per specifi-
cations, “Geo. A. Schastey & Co. — New York.”” Large
in scale, and in a form not generally associated with
domestic use, this is the only clock so designated, lead-
ing to the speculation that it may have been intended
for Schastey’s own showroom. Like Schastey’s wood-
work, the clock case is a mélange of classically inspired
architectural designs with exaggerated proportions, and
the carving, typical of Schastey’s output, varies from
tightly controlled and highly precise at the waist, or
middle section, to a bolder and more three-dimen-
sional execution in the bouquet of flowers along the

architrave. Schastey’s use in the pediment of the
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57. Photograph of the George A. Schastey & Co. factory and
showroom at 1681-1683 Broadway, New York City, ca. 1885.
Collection of Paul Manganaro

scroll-like rays of a rising-sun motif leading to trefoil
crenellations demonstrates how the entire playbook of
classical ornament and allusion was open to his interpre-
tation, which he executed in a manner that invoked,

but did not mimic, his sources.

SCHASTEY 'S LATER YEARS

Following the uptown progression of New York’s
wealthy elite, in 1885 Schastey moved his show-
room north from Union Square and incorporated it
into his warehouse facilities on Broadway and Fifty-
Third Street.” The new headquarters (fig. 57) earned a
detailed description in the New York Times. Taking the
reader on a virtual tour of the premises, the reporter
observed that each room was outfitted in a different
historical style, using myriad luxurious materials and
demonstrating a full range of styles and techniques, a
reflection of the houses Schastey was designing. The
article also confirmed that, apart from the showrooms,
Schastey kept nothing in stock; he only did custom
work that was made to order, pending the client’s

approval of design drawings:



58. George A. Schastey & Co. Cabinet, New York City, 1884—85. Rosewood, mahogany, cherry, pine, pewter, brass, and mother-of-pearl inlay,
H. 85 % in. (216.5 cm). The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York; Gift of Barrie and Deedee Wigmore, 2015 (2015.51a—h)



With the exception of these rooms, as fitted up, no
work is kept in stock, it being of too special a charac-
ter. That which is done for clients is from drawings, on
which estimates are made. Such work is never dupli-
cated, so that each interior undertaken has the value
of uniqueness. Some of this special work is given in
the prices sent in from the factory, which adjoins these

showrooms, waiting the completion of the order.”

The article goes on to note an impressive cabinet, the
description of which corresponds to one recently discov-
ered with distinctive Schastey features (fig. 58 and back

cover):

The most striking piece, however, is a large cabinet of
amaranth [purpleheart] inlaid with mother of pearl
and silver. . . . The centre panel is an elaborate design
in the silver. Surrounding it the plainer surfaces are
interspersed with stars of mother of pearl. Below a
carved band is a fine inlay of brass, making another
band, and below again come the richer forms in pearl
and silver.*

The cabinet demonstrates an extraordinary range
of sophisticated materials and techniques—unusual
even in this period of complex ornament—the mastery
of which is often thought to have been out of the reach
of domestic cabinetmakers. Schastey’s shop was well
known for its accomplishments, however, and as noted
earlier, geometric designs in brass or pewter were a
hallmark of the firm’s output. Indeed, as the 7imes arti-
cle states, “in workmanship and design they [George A.
Schastey & Co.] rival foreign work, they also have the
very positive advantage of being adapted to our climate,
which the foreign work, as we know from its yawning
cracks under our extremes of heat and cold, has not.”®'

Shortly after Schastey & Co. expanded its facili-
ties uptown, Arabella and Collis Huntington called on
Schastey again, in 1885, to refurbish the interiors of their
recently acquired country estate. “The Homestead,” as
it was called, was located in the Throggs Neck section
of the Bronx, overlooking Long Island Sound (today
it is Preston High School). Arabella had purchased
the estate from Frederick C. Havemeyer, the father of
sugar baron and noted Metropolitan Museum bene-

factor Henry O. Havemeyer, a few months before
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her marriage. Schastey overhauled each of the main
rooms in a different historical Revival style using suit-
able materials: oak for the dining room, mahogany for
the entrance hall and library, rosewood for the parlor,
and ebonized cherry for the reception room.*

In the early 1890s, the Huntingtons began work
on their palatial new mansion at Fifty-Seventh Street
and Fifth Avenue, today the site of Tiffany & Co.,
and they once again turned to Schastey.* The archi-
tect, George B. Post, selected Herter Brothers as the
principal decorator, but Arabella found fault with the
quality of their work and brought in Schastey to fin-
1sh several of the satinwood rooms.* Surviving cor-
respondence indicates that Schastey had a deft touch
with Arabella, his loyal but demanding patron. It was
a quality that doubtless served him well when dealing
with other clients throughout his career.®

In 1890 Schastey opened a branch manufactory
in Springfield, Massachusetts, capable at its zenith
of employing at least 150 employees.* In addition
to high-end bespoke work, the Springfield operation
catered to a broader, middle-class market, offering a
stock of Colonial Revival and Arts and Crafts—style
furniture (fig. 59). The Springfield outpost opened
partly in response to the changing tastes of Schastey’s
wealthy clientele, who increasingly opted to fur-
nish their homes with works imported directly from
Europe. As Schastey bemoaned in 1894, “The pres-
ent fashionable rage of our wealthy people to import
these goods from Europe, even under higher duties,
convinces us [Schastey & Co.] that if the duty of [fine
furniture] were even as high as 65 per cent, they
would still continue to import them.”*

As proof of the further diversification of the firm’s
services, Schastey & Co. joined the burgeoning mar-
ket for display cabinets and furnishings for America’s
newly built museums. It is tempting to speculate that
Schastey’s new operation in Springfield made him an
obvious choice for local art collector George Walter
Vincent Smith, perhaps attracted by the prestige associ-
ated with such a high-caliber firm. The surviving cases
are highly inventive Colonial Revival interpretations
that borrow liberally from Chippendale styles (fig. 60),

and many of the cases as well as seating furniture



remain in active use today at the George Walter
Vincent Smith Art Museum in Springfield.
Surviving correspondence indicates that Schastey
& Co. made “hundreds” of mahogany cases “for the
museums in New York.”® Among those referred to
may be the “six table cases” commissioned from him
by the Metropolitan Museum in 1888.* In 1893 the
firm was called on again by the Metropolitan, this
time to furnish and erect wall cases for five new gal-
leries as part of a new expansion.” None, however,
is known to survive. A bill in the Museum Archives
reveals that Schastey was one of a number of leading
cabinetmaking and decorating firms contracted for
the work.”” Unfortunately, the Metropolitan commis-
sion was one of Schastey’s last, for in October 1893
disaster struck: a fire consumed his New York City fac-
tory, then located at 506—508 West Forty-First Street,
resulting in a loss valued at $200,000 (about $5 mil-
lion today).” Although Schastey tried to rebuild, he
died the following year, at the age of fifty-five, on
board a steamer en route to Germany. At the time,
he was in the process of passing on the business to his
sons, George Jr. and William.” The brothers attempted
to keep the business going, but Schastey and Sons Manu-
facturing Co., as it was renamed, ended in bankruptcy in
1897. With the reopening of the Worsham-Rockefeller
Dressing Room as part of the permanent display at the
Metropolitan Museum, however, George A. Schastey
finally takes his rightful place among New York’s pre-

eminent Gilded Age cabinetmakers and decorators.

4 WEST FIFTY-FOURTH STREET!:

THE ROCKEFELLER YEARS AND AFTER

In 1915, shortly after the death of his wife, John D.
Rockefeller all but closed the house at 4 West Fifty-
Fourth Street, and he barely occupied it in the years
leading up to his death, in 1937. The Rockefeller fam-
ily, recognizing the importance of the interiors and

demonstrating admirable foresight in an era when

GEORGE A. SCHASTEY
- ‘
SPRINGFIELD, Company
MASS. SRR

One of the Maliogany Cabinets made by the GEORGE A. SCHASTRY Co.
for the G. W. V. Smith Collection.

Architectural Woodwork,
Cabinet Making, Furniture,
Wood Mosaic and
Parquet Floors,
Decoration, il
Paper Hangings, Etc,

Y

59. George A. Schastey Company (1890—1903).

Occasional Pieces of Choice and Useful Household

notions of historic preservatlon were nascent, pre- Furniture, ca. 1890. Collection of Paul Manganaro

served some of the house’s most significant rooms and 60. Advertisement for George A. Schastey Company;,
published in A Souvenir of the Art museum of the City
library assoctation, Springfield, Mass., 1895 (George

‘Walter Vincent Smith Museum, 1895)

furnishings before it was razed, in 1938. That year,
Rockefeller’s son, John D. Rockefeller Jr., donated
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three intact rooms to the Museum of the City of New
York, and the master bedroom and dressing room
were installed there. The Moorish reception room was
transferred to the Brooklyn Museum, where it was
installed in 1946. The Rockefellers also saved several
major architectural elements. No doubt owing to their
enormous scale, three great chimney breasts—from
the entrance hall, drawing room, and dining room—
were installed in the playhouse at Kykuit, the family’s
estate in Sleepy Hollow, New York. The one from the
entrance hall was placed in the tennis lounge together
with the large, elaborate chandelier that also graced
the entryway, while those from the dining and draw-
ing rooms were installed in the indoor tennis court.

About 2006, when the Museum of the City of
New York embarked on a comprehensive renovation,
it became clear after much thoughtful consideration
that the rooms would no longer fit into its master plan,
and new, appropriate homes were sought for them.
The Museum of the City of New York approached
several museums, including the Metropolitan, about
assuming stewardship of these two significant inte-
riors. The Virginia Museum of Fine Arts acquired
the bedroom, which was integrated into its suite of
galleries devoted to American art. Although contend-
ing with serious space limitations, the curators in The
American Wing at the Metropolitan gave careful con-
sideration to the more modestly scaled dressing room.
The Museum already had enormous strengths in late
nineteenth-century furniture, with major holdings of the
work of Herter Brothers and Louis Comfort Tiffany,
and the dressing room would be eminently comple-
mentary. Likewise, it would provide an important addi-
tion to The American Wing’s significant presentation of
historic American interiors.

Credit must go to former American Wing cura-
tors Morrison H. Heckscher and Peter M. Kenny for
exploring the possibilities offered by a disused fire
stairwell on the first floor of The American Wing, which

turned out to have nearly the exact proportions of the
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dressing room, with only a half inch to spare. Provi-
dentially, the space is also situated in the most appro-
priate location with regard to The American Wing’s
chronological progression of period rooms and decora-
tive arts: just off the McKim, Mead and White Stair-
hall (1884) from the Metcalfe House, in Buffalo, New
York, which represents the Shingle style, or the rural
architectural expression of the Aesthetic movement.
The stairhall’s juxtaposition with the nearly contem-
poraneous dressing room is, therefore, entirely fitting,
for the latter, with its harmonious amalgamation of
different historical styles, represents the more formal,
“urban” expression of Aestheticism. In addition, the
location is proximate to the Deedee Wigmore Galler-
1es for the arts of the Aesthetic movement, dating to
the late 1870s and early 1880s.

The dressing room was disassembled and put into
storage until work could begin. In February 2013,
thirty crates were brought to a temporary Museum
workshop, where a team of conservators led by Marijn
Manuels began the documentation, analysis, cleaning,
and conservation of its component parts. The Museum
seized on this unique opportunity to carefully exam-
ine every aspect of the room—the woodwork, painted
ceiling and frieze, lighting, carpet, upholstery, and
draperies—and embarked on the ambitious plan to
restore the room to its former glory.

Now installed, the dressing room pays homage to
both Arabella Worsham Huntington and the power of
transformation of the American character, as exem-
plified in the work she commissioned from George A.
Schastey (fig. 61). It also brings long-overdue attention
to one of America’s most gifted designers and his team
of craftsmen, and to the collaborative spirit of the
room’s original creation, borne out in its reinstallation
at the Metropolitan. Although the extensive research
already undertaken has revealed much more than was
previously known about the Gilded Age in New York,
the Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room anticipates

further discoveries in years to come.

61. View of the Worsham-Rockefeller Dressing Room
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1. For a thorough discussion of Arabella Wor-
sham’s early years, see Shelley M. Bennett, Art of
Wealth: The Huntingtons in the Gilded Age (San
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lections, and Botanical Gardens, 2013), pp. 16-25.
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